## University of Tennessee at Chattanooga

# **UTC Scholar**

Honors Theses

Student Research, Creative Works, and Publications

5-2020

# Forest kindergarten and the perception of parents

Rebecca Boyer University of Tennessee at Chattanooga, wdn266@mocs.utc.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.utc.edu/honors-theses

Part of the Early Childhood Education Commons

## **Recommended Citation**

Boyer, Rebecca, "Forest kindergarten and the perception of parents" (2020). Honors Theses.

This Theses is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Research, Creative Works, and Publications at UTC Scholar. It has been accepted for inclusion in Honors Theses by an authorized administrator of UTC Scholar. For more information, please contact scholar@utc.edu.

Forest Kindergarten and the Perception of Parents

Rebecca Marie Boyer

Departmental Honors Thesis University of Tennessee at Chattanooga School of Education

Examination Date: 11/15

Christopher Hansen Assistant Professor of Education Thesis Director Sarah Sandefur Professor of Education Department Examiner

2

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	4
Forest Kindergarten and the Perception of Parents	5
What Does Forest Kindergarten Look Like?	5
Instructional Activities - Content in Forest Kindergarten	7
The School of Study: Mountain View Elementary School	8
Forest Kindergarten at Mountain View Elementary School	8
Methods	10
Limitations	10
Participation	11
Survey Results - Qualitative	11
Question: Why did you apply for forest kindergarten?	12
Results: Forest Kindergarten	12
Results: Traditional Kindergarten	12
Discussion	13
Question: Is this your first child to attend kindergarten?	13
Results: Forest Kindergarten	14
Results: Traditional Kindergarten	14
Discussion	14
Question: what concerns do you have for kindergarten?	14
Results: Forest Kindergarten	15

Running Head: PERCEPTION OF FOREST KINDERGARTEN	
Results: Traditional Kindergarten	15
Discussion	15
Question: what are your expectations for kindergarten?	16
Results: Forest Kindergarten	16
Results: Traditional Kindergarten	16
Discussion	17
Discussion	17
Survey Results: Activity & Outside Time - Quantitative	19
Discussion	20
Survey Questions	20
Sports Participation	20
Free Time	20
Time Outside	21
Discussion	21
Conclusion	21
References	24
Appendix	25

#### Abstract

This study investigates one public school forest kindergarten in the southeastern U.S. The purpose of this study is to determine the perception of parents of a kindergarten classroom context that is somewhat unique for U.S. public schools (forest kindergarten). The researcher believes that there is a unique perception that parents of forest kindergarten students have, and this study seeks to identify and describe them in order to inform 1) the participants and participating school system so that they can make informed decisions for this and future school-context reform models, and 2) the education research community at large so that U.S. public school efforts to enact forest kindergarten learning contexts can become part of the international conversation on early childhood learning contexts.

The researcher's questions were: What are the perceptions of parents that applied for their child to be in forest kindergarten compared to the parents that didn't apply for forest kindergarten?

The researcher is interested in the differences and similarities between parents of forest kindergarten and traditional kindergarten students. The findings indicate that parents of forest kindergarten students believe that forest kindergarten will allow students a better transition to school while still achieving grade level academic performance.

#### **Forest Kindergarten the Effects and the Perception of Parents**

In the forest area several students worked together to create a house. The students used large sticks and branches to create the structure. As students worked to build the house, one student picked up several leaves and said, "let's use these maple tree leaves". Other students continued to pick up leaves and name them as they put them in the house. Earlier that day in class, the children learned about different types of leaves and trees in the area around the school.

This excerpt from an observation at Mountain View Elementary School (a pseudonym, all proper names are pseudonyms) suggests the play based learning aspect of forest school. Students are immersed in their natural surroundings and make connections to content being taught.

#### What Does Forest Kindergarten Look Like?

According to Larimore, forest kindergarten is an

educational program which provides daily outdoor experiences for children 3-6 year olds, with limited or no indoor facilities. Children in such programs tend to spend 70-100% of their time outdoors, in a nature immersion experience, in which the curriculum emerges from the daily activities" (p. 33).

This type of learning environment is very different from a traditional classroom. The daily tasks of a forest kindergarten are more interdisciplinary and play based than a traditional classroom.

A primary school in Kent, UK follows the forest classroom model and is an example of what a forest classroom can look like. The class convenes in a small wooded area that is surrounded by fields and green lands. Their only shelter is a large tent that has blankets and books. The kindergarten class runs from 9am-2pm three days a week and 9am-12pm two days a week. The students attend school in all weather, so parents are given clear instructions as to what their child should wear. The class includes time to take breaks where the students gather around a fire where food and drinks are prepared. The activities done in class foster imagination through play based learning and nature exploration. The curriculum encourages students to make connections between the content and their surroundings. The teacher gathers records of the students' learning through photographs to show learning and meet government requirements (Knight, 2016).

A forest school in Denmark follows the forest school model, but with variations that make it unique. This particular school has a building that the forest class uses, but the majority of their time is spent in their outdoor classroom area. The route to the outdoor classroom area from the building is marked. In the area, there were miniature tight ropes for the students to climb on and the students are even encouraged to climb trees. Like the school in Kent, the teachers used photographs as a means to track their learning. The students are provided with magnifiers and digging tools to support them in their exploration. The environment was student-led, with the teachers as facilitators of their learning (Knight, 2013).

As seen through these examples, forest kindergarten is not the same everywhere, but rather it evolves and adjusts to its surroundings and circumstances. But, there are defining aspects about a forest school that point to it being a forest classroom.

First, children in forest kindergarten classes spend the majority of their time outside in the outdoor classroom and go out in all weather (Larimore, 2016). "There is no such thing as bad weather, only bad clothing" (Knight, 2013 p. 19). Forest programs make sure that students are appropriately dressed to be outside so that they can be safe in all weather. This requirement will look different for each program based on the climate and their regulations for severe weather, but a defining characteristic of a forest class is that they spend most of their time in their outdoor classroom.

Another key characteristic of a forest kindergarten class is that it has an outdoor area where they spend their time outdoors, referred to as their outdoor "classroom". Outdoor learning is not limited to only using forests as a classroom, but rather using any nature-rich outdoor space that may allow for outdoor-oriented learning experiences. Some schools may use a field or a nearby wooded area as their "classroom" where they will spend most of their time (Knight, 2013).

## **Instructional Activities - Content in Forest Kindergarten**

Some may assume that a forest kindergarten class is mainly focused on science and science skills. However, a key aspect of forest kindergarten is that it works to integrate all disciplines as effectively as possible. A study on the seasons changing and why leaves fall may begin by gathering fallen leaves and discussing observations. A lesson on addition may begin by gathering items to count. It allows students to "make connections between subjects and contextualize learning experiences" (Knight, 2011 p. 36).

This style of learning is play based and "has a strong focus on personal inquiry, thinking skills, and developing independent learners" (Knight, 2011 p. 36). Students in a forest kindergarten classroom are allowed to wander within their designated area and explore their surroundings through play. Teachers provide "exciting, direct and relevant learning experiences...in a real-life context" (Knight, 2011 p. 36). The students become explorers with

their learning as they take the lead with their own learning experiences, given the freedom of an outdoor, hands on, experiential learning environment.

Outdoor learning experiences like forest kindergarten are not a traditional means of learning in kindergarten. So why do parents choose for their child's first major educational experience to be non-traditional? Why do parents choose forest kindergarten? This study focuses on the perceptions of parents that applied for their child to attend forest kindergarten and parents that didn't apply for forest kindergarten. Its goal is to find commonalities and differences between parents that applied for forest kindergarten and parents that did not apply.

#### The School of Study: Mountain View Elementary School

The school of study, Mountain View Elementary School, is a suburban school in the southeastern part of the United States. It is located roughly 5 miles outside of a downtown area with a population of about 180,000. The area is surrounded by mountains and valleys. Mountain View Elementary School has approximately 650 students. 40% of the student body are minority students (majority of which are African American), 10% are English learners, and 48% are economically disadvantaged. The building is a single story building with one main entrance and three main hallways that lead to all the classrooms. Nearby the school is a walking track that many people from the community use.

#### Forest Kindergarten at Mountain View Elementary School

Mountain View Elementary School's forest kindergarten class uses an undeveloped space between the school building and a nearby neighborhood. This space is used primarily for the forest kindergarten class. It includes a grassy area with a covered blackboard, small forested area with trails, and a creek (Bailey, Greganti, & Hein 2017).

8

Before the class begins to go outside for learning, the teacher spends time at the beginning of the school year teaching the students what their routines will be like in their outdoor classroom. This means showing students the boundaries of the space, how to interact with nature, how to interact with each other, etc. (Bailey, Greganti, & Hein 2017). It is very important for a class to learn routines about going outside in their outdoor classroom before they actually do, for the safety of the children, nature, and those around them (Knight, 2013).

The kindergarten students spend half a day outside (3 hours) and all day one day a week. The class goes outside in all weather, except during serious thunderstorms or other dangerous conditions. They adjust their schedule to go outside depending on the season. During the warmer months they go outside in the morning to avoid the heat and in the colder months they go outside in the afternoon to avoid the chilly mornings (Bailey, Greganti, & Hein 2017). Students are appropriately dressed and prepared for all weather. By going outside in all weather they are immersed in their surroundings and it connects them with the natural world around them and helps them better learn and understand what is around them (Knight, 2011). This forest kindergarten class contains all the defining characteristics of a forest kindergarten classroom, but should be considered a hybrid model because the students spend time inside a classroom and outside in the forest. On average, the class spends about half of their time inside the classroom and half their time outside in the forest.

The subject forest kindergarten class topics followed that of the state standards for the grade level, but their instruction was supported with play-based learning. Play-based learning is learning that happens with hands on activities or play (Knight, 2013). The curriculum that was being taught in the four other kindergarten classrooms was also being taught in the forest

kindergarten class, but by different means (Bailey, Greganti, & Hein 2017). For example, a math lesson on addition may be taught by gathering similar items and counting how many there are total. A literacy lesson may include writing a piece about the observations they make in nature.

Mountain View had the means for only one forest kindergarten class. During registration for the next year, parents could indicate whether or not they'd like their child to be considered for forest kindergarten. More families applied for the program than one class could accommodate, so administration chose to select students through a random lottery. The students that were not chosen for forest kindergarten were placed in one of the other traditional kindergarten classes (Bailey, Greganti, & Hein 2017).

#### Methods

At the beginning of the school year, the research team sent a survey to parents of each student in traditional kindergarten and forest kindergarten (refer to Appendix). The questions covered topics such as the child's activities and interests, sleep habits, fine and gross motor skills, expression of emotions, interactions with others, and the parents concerns and expectations for kindergarten. The goal of this survey was to gain a better understanding of the types of families that applied for forest kindergarten and the perception of parents who chose forest kindergarten.

This study uses the results from all parents who responded that they applied for forest kindergarten, regardless if they were randomly chosen for forest kindergarten or not. Because this study focuses on the perception of parents that want their children in forest kindergarten, their information is still considered useful.

## Limitations

Some limitations should be noted. Mountain View Elementary had a late start to their forest kindergarten program this year and are still working on the process within the classroom. This limited what the researcher could see because the class was not functioning at what it normally would be at this time in the school year. Another limitation was time. This study was conducted in one semester which affected the number of observations and surveys. This study does not include interviews with teachers (both forest kindergarten and traditional kindergarten). This would have helped the researcher to further understand the teacher's ideas about their class and how they work to integrate instruction with the outdoor environment. Lastly, the number of parent participants was a limitation. With greater parents and forest kindergarten parents.

## Participation

The surveys were sent out to all kindergarten classes at Mountain View Elementary, including the forest class. The surveys were identical, so each family received the same survey. After we received the initial responses from the surveys, we sent out follow up surveys to get missing pieces from families (consent forms, particular questions in the survey, etc) and to resend a copy of the survey from families who didn't respond.

Not all teachers were equal participants. From one class in particular, we only received 12% participation. From two of the four traditional kindergarten classes, we received about 70% participation, the other traditional kindergarten class had about 27% participation. The forest kindergarten class had 70% participation. The total number of forest kindergarten parents that responded were 23 and the number of traditional kindergarten parents that responded were 23.

## **Survey Results - Qualitative**

The survey results are organized by stating and defining the question asked to the participants, showing the results from both forest kindergarten and traditional kindergarten and lastly followed by a discussion of what the results showed the research team.

## **Question: Why Did You Apply for Forest Kindergarten?**

The researcher asked, "*Why did you apply for forest kindergarten*?" and "*Why did you choose to stay with traditional kindergarten*?" These questions were asked in an effort to determine motivation and perceptions of parents that applied for forest kindergarten and the parents that chose to stay with traditional kindergarten.

**Results: forest kindergarten.** Of the parents that applied for forest kindergarten, they all gave different answers as to why they applied. The most common reason among 83% of parents, was that they chose to apply because of the nature and outdoor aspect of forest kindergarten. These parents commented on how their children enjoy the outdoors. One parent said, "She loves being outside in nature." Another parent commented on the benefits he/she sees for his/her child being outside, "I want him to be able to move and be outside."

Another lesser commonality between about 25% of parents was a hope that it would help their child transition to school better. A family that traveled extensively said, "Forest K seemed to offer an option for easier transitions from travel and adventure to the classroom." Another parent said, "She is a young 5 year old and we thought it would be an easier transition into school."

**Results: traditional kindergarten.** Of the parents that explained why they chose to stay with traditional kindergarten, 64% said that it was because they didn't know about forest kindergarten. Many of them even commented on how they would like more information on it and

would apply now, even though applications for forest kindergarten have closed. One parent in particular said he/she missed the application deadline for forest kindergarten, but was intending to apply.

Two parents didn't apply for forest kindergarten because of health reasons for their child. One parent said, "She's prone to upper respiratory infections and did not want her stuck outside in the cold or rain." Another parent didn't apply because of the natural aspect of forest kindergarten explaining that, "He doesn't like too many bugs." Lastly, another parent didn't apply because of uncertainty, explaining that he/she "weren't sure how she would do with it."

**Discussion.** From the survey responses, it can be seen that parents chose to apply for forest kindergarten because their child enjoys the outdoors and others chose to apply because they want their children to be exposed to the outdoors more. Some of the parents chose forest kindergarten because it is an alternative option to the traditional classroom.

For the majority of parents that chose to stay with traditional kindergarten, it was an issue of lack of knowledge about the program, rather than purposefully deciding not to apply. This indicates that parents are open to the idea of non-traditional learning environments, but rather need the resources to be informed about the options around them.

However, there were parents that purposefully decided not to apply for forest kindergarten. This will be the case in any program, and it cannot be expected that everyone will want to try a new experience. Only one parent said they didn't apply because they were uncertain about their child in the program, the rest were for health reasons.

## **Question: Is This Your First Child to Attend Kindergarten?**

13

The researcher asked, "*Is this your first child to attend kindergarten? If so, what kind of kindergarten have your other children attended?*" The researcher asked this question to better understand if parents who chose to apply for forest kindergarten were applying because of past experiences or if they were first time parents to this style of schooling.

**Results: forest kindergarten.** For 83% of parents that chose forest kindergarten, this was their first child to attend kindergarten. Of the parents that applied for forest kindergarten and have older children, only two mentioned that their other children have attended forest kindergarten.

**Results: traditional kindergarten.** For the parents that chose to stay in traditional kindergarten, for over half of them this was their first child to attend kindergarten. For about 45% of parents, this wasn't their first child to attend kindergarten. For the majority of families, their other children had attended traditional kindergarten.

**Discussion**. Based on these results, it can be said that parents are willing to try forest kindergarten whether they've had another child attend traditional or forest kindergarten. With that being said, and the program being somewhat new at this school, most of the parents who are applying for forest kindergarten haven't had experience with it before. With the amount of parents that this is their first child attending kindergarten, it does not seem significant enough to conclude that parents are not willing to try forest kindergarten.

#### **Question: What Concerns do you Have for Kindergarten?**

The researcher asked next, "*What concerns do you have for kindergarten?*" This question was asked to see if there was a difference in concerns between parents who applied for forest kindergarten and parents who didn't.

**Results: forest kindergarten.** The concerns that the parents had for kindergarten in general were many. The most commonly seen concern that 25% of parents mentioned was their child's ability to function in school and transition to school. One parent responded that her concerns was, "My child not following directions well." Another parent indicated about her child, "That she transitions well". Other parents mentioned they have concerns about their child being able to pay attention and focus in this new environment. Parents were also concerned about their child's interactions with others, especially peers. Lastly, five parents mentioned a concern for their child and external influences - bullies, being negatively influenced by those around them, etc.

**Results: traditional kindergarten.** The concerns that parents had for kindergarten were widespread. The top concerns that parents have about kindergarten were their child's academic achievement and concerns about their child's social/peer interactions. In reference to academic concerns one parent said, "plan of studies" and another said, "not learning what she needs to know". About social/peer interactions a parent said, "worried about her not making friends and falling behind socially". One parent showed specific concern about their child "being labeled the bad kid" because of past experiences and not being able to sit still.

**Discussion.** The concerns that parents had for their children in kindergarten show that they are worried about their child's ability to function in school. Their responses indicate concern about their child's behavior and potentially having behavior issues. Parent's are also concerned about their child's interaction with others and influence that will have on their child.

Interestingly, parents who applied for forest kindergarten did not mention any concerns about academics, but parents who stayed with traditional kindergarten did. Parents who applied for forest kindergarten had concerns that involved their child's ability to adjust to the new environment and how that environment affects their child.

Traditional kindergarten parents were most concerned about academic achievement and their child's interactions with others. Development during this time is largely based on students' relationships and experiences, so it's normal for parents to be concerned about their child's experiences (Broekhuizen 2016).

## **Question: What are your Expectations for Kindergarten?**

The researcher asked, "*What are your expectations for kindergarten*?" The researcher asked about expectations and concerns, in order to inform the researcher about what parents want out of kindergarten but also what parents are worried about for kindergarten.

**Results: forest kindergarten.** 45% of parents included that their expectations for kindergarten were academic. Eleven of these parents were specific as about content - reading, math, writing, with reading being the most frequent response. The next most frequent response answers were for their child's social development and for their child to have fun. Parents showed their expectations for their children to grow, but also have fun while doing it.

**Results: traditional kindergarten.** Over half of the parents included that their expectations for kindergarten were academic. Most of the parents specifically mentioning reading/literacy. A parent said "that she will learn a lot, enjoy it, and love school." This parent specifically wanted his/her child to enjoy her schooling experience. Several other parents mentioned preparedness for 1st grade. The next highest expectation that parents had in common was for their child to develop their social and peer abilities. A parent mentioned his/her child's

interactions with others and said she wanted school to "help him adjust with other kids his age" and another hoped "that she will continue to grow socially."

**Discussion.** Though parents of forest kindergarten students did not show concern about academics, their expectations included academic performance. Traditional kindergarten parents also expected academic achievement out of kindergarten. Parents that applied for forest kindergarten weren't worried about academics, but they believed academic achievement will result from kindergarten. Even with these concerns and expectations, parents still wanted their children to have fun.

Traditional kindergarten parents' expectations for kindergarten were academic achievement. They wanted their children to grow academically but also develop their social skills. Interestingly, a parent even mentioned that they wanted their child to enjoy school. The obvious purpose of school is for students to learn and grow, but parents are also expecting social and emotional growth from their child's experience.

#### Discussion

Transitioning from being at home or attending daycare or preschool to the structured setting of school can be very difficult for students. Kindergarten has become more and more focused on academic rigor and achievement, than a play based learning environment for students to grow. The pressures of academic achievement are felt by the student, teacher, and parents (Bassock, Lathom & Rorem, 2016). Survey results from both forest kindergarten parents and traditional kindergarten parents showed both commonalities and differences in how these two groups think about this transition.

The most significant difference between the two groups were their concerns for kindergarten. In comparison to parents of forest kindergarten children, traditional kindergarten parents were more concerned about academic achievement and forest kindergarten parents were more concerned about their child's ability to function in school and their child's interactions with others.

The parents that chose to stay with traditional kindergarten were most concerned about academics. The main purpose of school is to learn, so it's no surprise that when pursuing the traditional route parents were most concerned about academics.

A commonality between the two groups was the expectations for kindergarten from both forest kindergarten parents and traditional kindergarten parents were academic. Both groups of parents expected academic growth from kindergarten in both styles of classrooms. This shows that no matter their concerns or the means by which their children learn, parents expect their children to learn in school. This commonality between the two groups is a bridge to say that no matter the environment of the classroom, all parents want their children to learn, and forest kindergarten and traditional kindergarten can both provide this academic environment (Bailey, Greganti, & Hein, 2017).

For 45% of parents of traditional kindergarten, this wasn't their first child to attend kindergarten. This could show a sense of uncertainty among parents about their child's first formal educational experience being non traditional. However, because most parents responded that they didn't apply for forest kindergarten because they weren't aware of the program, it does not seem likely that uncertainty is their reasoning behind not applying, but rather, a lack of knowledge was why they didn't respond. In fact, only one parent said that he/she didn't apply for forest kindergarten because he/she was uncertain about it. This suggests that with more education about the program, more parents would be interested.

Forest kindergarten and outdoor learning are great opportunities for children to have non-traditional educational experiences. The learning in these environments is still rigorous, and for this school in particular it is the same as the other traditional classrooms (Bailey, Greganti, & Hein, 2017). The perception of parents of forest kindergarten students is that it allows for an easier transition to school, but they still expect academic achievement. Traditional kindergarten parents still want the same academic achievement. For parents to see the bridge between the two programs and that forest kindergarten is a great opportunity for students to learn, they need to be more educated about the program and what outdoor learning experiences are. It can be said based on these survey results that more parents would have applied to forest kindergarten had they known about the program or had more information about it. It's important for schools with outdoor learning experiences to educate their community so that parents are aware of the options available to them.

Results			
	Forest K	Traditional K	
has/does your child participate in any sports?	Yes: 47% No: 53%	Yes: 26% No: 74%	
What does your child prefer to do in their free time?*	Play outside: 95% Explore in nature: 82%	Play outside: 86% Explore in nature: 30%	
About how much time does your child spend outside each day?	<1 hours: 13% 1-2: 39% 2-3: 26% 4+: 17%	<1 hours: 21% 1-2: 47% 2-3: 17% 4+: 4%	

Survey Results: Activity & Outside Time - Quantitative

\* refer to Appendix, question 3B for a full list of response options.

#### Discussion

## **Survey Questions**

The participants were asked several questions that relate to their activity levels and preferred activities. These questions were included in particular to highlight significant differences and similarities between the two groups.

## **Sports Participation**

Based on the results from the survey, forest kindergarten students participate in sports nearly double the amount of traditional kindergarten. This is an interesting connection between families that applied for forest kindergarten and their child's activity levels. It can be said that parents who want their children in forest kindergarten also involve their children in more sports and activities that require a lot of movement.

#### Free Time

When asked what their children prefer to do in their free time, forest kindergarten parents and traditional kindergarten parents had similar results in most areas but there were some areas of significant difference. Both groups seem to prefer being outside. One parent said, "my child loves the outdoors". This shows the researcher that the difference between parents of forest kindergarten and traditional kindergarten may not be whether their child prefers being outdoors but rather if their child prefers to explore in nature. There was a significant difference between both groups in response to playing outside and exploring in nature. One parent of a forest kindergarten student said, "my child loves outdoors; exploring". This shows the researcher that parents that applied for forest kindergarten have children who enjoy not only playing outside (playground, backyard, neighborhood, etc) but enjoy exploring nature (wooded areas, trees, fields, etc).

## Time Outside

There was also a significant difference between forest kindergarten parents and traditional kindergarten parents and the amount of time their children spend outside. As the amount of time outside got greater, the greater the amount of forest kindergarten became. But, as the amount of time outside was greater for traditional kindergarten, the less amount of students were outside.

## Discussion

The results from this portion of the survey show a greater overall activity participation from parents who applied for their child to attend forest kindergarten and more time outside and desire to be in nature than parents in traditional kindergarten.

This suggests the researcher that families of forest kindergarten students are outside and active more than parents of traditional kindergarten parents. This can perhaps be correlated to their application for forest kindergarten, because forest kindergarten is more active outside than traditional kindergarten.

#### Conclusion

Overall, there are some significant differences between families that apply for forest kindergarten and families that don't. It can be suggested that families who apply for forest kindergarten are more active and spend more time outside than families of traditional kindergarten. They're children are more involved in sports and prefer to spend most of their time outside. Parents of forest kindergarten may be more concerned about their children transitioning to kindergarten than their child's academic achievement, even though they expect academic achievement from their child's kindergarten experience.

These key differences seen in the survey show the researcher that the lifestyle of families of forest kindergarten more closely resemble forest kindergarten - more time outside and enjoying exploring nature. Forest kindergarten parents commented about their children enjoying the outdoors, and one family schedules a hike at least once a week. These similarities between their lives and the program could be a major reason why the families applied for forest kindergarten.

The perception of parents who applied for forest kindergarten is that forest kindergarten offered their children a better transition to school. These parents were mainly concerned about their child's transition to a school environment, and as seen through the surveys, considered that forest kindergarten would be a good option.

Forest kindergarten and traditional kindergarten parents both expected academic achievement from their children in kindergarten. Their concerns were different, but both groups showed that they believed academics to be a key part of kindergarten.

The similarities and differences between both groups show the researcher that there are significant differences between families who apply for forest kindergarten and families that don't. But, there was a clear interest in the families who didn't apply for forest kindergarten. These results show the school and community that parents didn't apply for forest kindergarten not because they didn't want to, but because they didn't have enough information about the

program. Educating the community about forest kindergarten could increase interest in the program and expose the community alternative options to school.

#### References

- Bailey, A. W., Greganti, C. W., & Hein, K. W. Red Bank Elementary Forest Kindergarten Outcomes Assessment. (2017).
- Bassok, D., Latham, S., & Rorem, A. (2016). Is Kindergarten the New First Grade? *AERA Open*, 2(1), 31. https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858415616358

Bensten, Peter. Udeskole in Scandinavia Teaching Learning in Nature Places. 2013.

https://www.childrenandnature.org/2013/02/12/udeskole-in-scandinavia-teaching-learnin g-in-natural-places/

Broekhuizen, M., Mokrova, I., Burchinal, M., & Garrett-Peters, P. (2016). Classroom Quality at Pre-kindergarten and Kindergarten and Children's Social Skills and Behavior Problems. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, *36*, 212–222. Retrieved from <u>http://search.proquest.com/docview/1826663579/</u>

- Havig, J., Conn, D., Kana, E., & Morris, T. (2017). Advantages and Disadvantages of Flexible Seating (ProQuest Dissertations Publishing). Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/1942412260/
- Knight, S. (2011). Forest School for All. London, UK: SAGE.

Knight, S. (2013). Forest School and Outdoor Learning in the Early Years. London, UK: SAGE.

Knight, S. (2016). Forest school in practice: For all ages. Sage Publications.

Larimore, R. (2016). Defining Nature-Based Preschools. *International Journal of Early Childhood Environmental Education, 4*(1), 32-36.

## APPENDIX

# **Pre-Kindergarten Survey for Parents**

To be given to participants before the school year begins.

- 1. General Information:
  - a. Parent's name
  - b. Child's name
  - c. Child's age
  - d. Child's Gender
- 2. Past Experiences/Activities
  - a. Did/Does your child attend a Pre-K program? (Yes/No)
    - i. If yes, then is the Pre-K program part of the Hamilton County School District? (Yes/No)
  - b. Did/Does your child attend a daycare? (Yes/No)
- 3. Child's Interests/Activities
  - a. Has/does your child participate in any sports? (Yes/No)
    - i. If yes, which one(s) and for how many months?
  - What does your child prefer to do in their free time? Choose all that apply (choices: watch TV, play with toys, play outside, play with friends, read, puzzles, art projects, imaginary play/pretend, explore in nature, play with a pet, relaxing, daydreaming, drawing/writing)
  - c. About how much time does your child stay interested in self-chosen activities? (<10, 10-15, 20-30, 40 or more minutes)
  - d. About how much time does your child spend outside each day? (<1, 1-2, 2-3, 4 or more hours)
- 4. Health
  - a. About how many times has your child been sick in the past 2 months? (open-ended response)
  - b. Around what time does your child generally go to bed? (open-ended response)
  - c. About how long does it take your child to fall asleep? (open-ended response)
  - d. Does your child nap? If so, when do they nap and for about how long? (open-ended response)
- 5. Fine/Gross Motor Skills
  - a. Can your child button their clothes independently? (Yes/No)
  - b. Can your child tie their shoes independently? (Yes/No)
  - c. Does your child like to skip, hop, and/or gallop? (Yes/No)
- 6. Communication
  - a. How does your child express their happiness? (open-ended response)
  - b. How does your child express anger? (open-ended response)
  - c. How does your child express disappointment? (open-ended response)
  - d. How does your child express frustration? (open-ended response)
  - e. How does your child express fear? (open-ended response)

- f. How does your child express confusion? (open-ended response)
- g. How often does your child ask for help from an adult? (always, often, sometimes, never)
- Does your child follow single direction or requests? (Like "Put your toy away.") (Yes/No)
- i. Does your child follow a two-part direction or request? (Like "Put your toy away and then sit at the table.") (Yes/No)
- j. Does your child follow a three-part direction or request? (Like "Put your toy away, then sit at the table, and then draw a picture.") (Yes/No)
- k. How does your child feel about doing activities by themselves? (open-ended response)
- I. In what ways does your child use his/her imagination? (open-ended response)
- 7. Interpersonal Skills
  - a. How well does your child cooperate with peers during play? (open-ended response)
  - b. How well does your child share? (open-ended response)
  - c. Does your child enjoy playing alone? (always, often, sometimes, never)
- 8. Other/Academic
  - a. Please list any fears your child may have (dogs, being alone, etc).(open-ended response)
  - b. How does your child solve problems? (open-ended response)
- 9. Forest Kindergarten Specific Questions Parents
  - a. Have you applied for your child to attend the Forest Kindergarten classroom? If yes, then:
    - i. Is this your first child to attend Kindergarten? (Yes/No)
      - If no, then what kind of kindergarten have your other children attended? Choose all that apply (traditional, forest, other\_\_\_\_\_)
    - ii. Why do you want your child to attend Forest Kindergarten? (open-ended response)
    - iii. What are your expectations for Forest Kindergarten? (open-ended response)
    - iv. What are any concerns you have about Forest Kindergarten? (open-ended response)
  - b. If no, then:
    - i. What are your concerns about Kindergarten? (open-ended response)
    - ii. What are your expectations for Kindergarten? (open-ended response)
    - iii. Why did you not choose to enroll your child in Forest Kindergarten? (open-ended response)